pd7 FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

NOV 1 1993

By_				
•	Chief	Deputy	Clerk	_

JAMES DALE YOUNG,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 82,461

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 19, 1990, the Lee County state attorney charged the Appellant, JAMES DALE YOUNG, with two counts of capital sexual battery and one count of lewd assault. (R539) On May 10, 1991, the information was amended to include three counts of capital sexual battery and two counts of lewd assault. (R543) On June 19, 1991, a jury found Mr. Young guilty of two counts of capital sexual battery by using his finger on B.B. and C.B.. (R564-65) On October 31, 1991, Judge Nelson sentenced Mr. Young to life in prison. (R572-73) He appealed his case to the Second District Court of Appeal (R577) Although the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the convictions, it certified the following question to be of great public importance:

WHETHER FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.400(b) AUTHORIZES THE TRIAL COURT TO ALLOW THE JURY TO TAKE VIDEOTAPED WITNESS TESTIMONY, WHICH IS RECEIVED INTO EVIDENCE, TO THE JURY ROOM FOR UNRESTRICTED REVIEW DURING DELIBERATIONS?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

C.B., 3, (a female); B.B., 5, (a female); and R.B., 10, (a male) were children of Normal and Lord Book. (R123, 140, 172-73, 196A) Mr. Book was Jewish and Mrs. Book was Christian, but they raised their children to know both religions. (R222) R.B. liked the Christian church. (R222) They moved to an apartment building in Lee County in February 1990 and soon met the Appellant, JAMES DALE YOUNG, who lived a few buildings away. (R196A-98, 223-

24) Mr. Young suffered from polio and could not walk without braces and crutches. (R423)

Mr. Young would talk to the Bernal children or ask them to play ball with him and other children. (R197, 223) R.B. and his friends played sockball with Mr. Young one day. (R177) The next day, Mr. Young was playing sockball again and handing out Bibles and slips for free Bible lessons. (R177-78) R.B. received a Bible inscribed, "A friend in Christ," and dated May 7, 1990. (R185) R.B. and B.B. started going with Mr. Young to church on Sunday and to other church groups during the week. (R197-98, 224, 426) C.B. was too young to go along. (R198) Mr. Bernal went with Mr. Young to two church functions in June and July. (R198, 224-25, 427)

Note and Lamber Beach talked to people who knew Mr. Young and they said he was a nice person. (R198) Mr. Young asked to give the children organ lessons; and, according to the parents, R.B. and B.B. had lessons at Mr. Young's apartment perhaps three times a week for an hour or two. (R198-200, 219, 238) Mr. Young often called to ask R.B. to come. (R199)

R.B. and Mr. Young testified, however, that R.B. came almost every day for lessons and stayed all day except for lunch and dinner. (R179-80, 199, 428) B.B. often went with him, but C.B. went only a few times. (R179) Once C.B. came by herself. (R428) A retired neighbor who rented the apartment directly underneath Mr. Young's apartment saw R.B. dragging his sister to Mr. Young's apartment every day for several months. (R410-11) She never saw adults escorting the children. (R410-11)

Mr. Young had many games and toys for the children, and they would play on his movable hospital bed mattresses and watch television. (R131, 148, 179, 429) Afterwards, Mr. Young would bring the children home, and the adults would talk. (R199) They gave Mr. Young a birthday party in June with a cupcake as the cake. (R199, 448)

In June 1990 at Mr. Young's apartment, according to R.B., Mr. Young momentarily tickled R.B.'s private over his clothes. (R185-86) Neither Mr. Young nor R.B. said anything. (R186) R.B. walked away, and B.B. and C.B. began jumping on Mr. Young. (R186) Later in June, R.B., B.B., and C.B. were playing at Mr. Young's apartment; and Mr. Young was crawling around to catch R.B.. (R187) He tickled R.B. again in the same place. (R187) R.B. did not tell his mother what had happened because his mother often worried, and he was afraid she would not allow him to see Mr. Young again. (R186-88, 193)

R.B. went to a Salvation Army camp with Mr. Young during the third or fourth week of July 1990. (R178, 188, 193, 225, 432) Mr. Young stayed in a cabin with another counselor. (R193, 432) The camp nurse testified that R.B. was fighting while playing volley-ball. (R414) He swore and said he saw a VCR tape at home of Satan and God having sex. (R415) He told several wild stories about sex. (R415) When the nurse asked why he was lying, he said it was fun. (R415) She called a counselor, and they talked to him about lying. (R415) When Mr. Young questioned R.B. about these statements, he

said he had learned them from two neighbor boys. (R433) He said he was Jewish and hated Mr. Young, who was a Christian. (R433)

On the way home when Mr. Young told R.B. he would tell R.B.'s parents, R.B. started screaming and said he hated Mr. Young, hated Christians, and wanted to be a Jew. (R200) When they came home, Mr. Young told R.B.'s parents what R.B. had said. (R188, 200, 225-26, 435) R.B. denied doing anything wrong and said that other boys had instigated the problems. (R201, 226, 435) His parents did not believe him because he often was bad at school, and they grounded him for a week. (R188-89, 201, 225-26, 435)

According to Mr. and Mrs. Beach, a detective called the camp later and learned that R.B. had only described what other boys had said and did not say them himself. (R217) They learned from a counselor and another woman whose son went there that the children were unsupervised and that each camp had perhaps twelve boys, of which R.B. was the only white boy. (R226) The other boys took his candy and made him do unnatural things. (R226)

The next day, July 30, according to Mrs. Beach. Mr. Young called five times to ask B.B. and C.B. to come over because he was lonely. (R201-02) Mrs. Beach initially said that C.B. was too young; but, after lunch, she took them to Mr. Young's apartment. (R201-02) R.B. could not go along because he was grounded. (R187) They were there for an hour and a half. (R202) Mrs. Beach called twice to make sure they were all right. (R202)

C.B. testified that Mr. Young touched her peepee and B.B.'s peepee with his finger. (R132-33) They had their clothes on.

(R137) He was holding them down somehow. (R137-38) He did not put medicine on her. (R134) R.B. was not there. (R135) B.B., however, testified that R.B. was there. (R152-53) Mr. Young did not put medicine on her or give her or C.B. a bad touch. (R154) He did not touch B.B. at all. (R159) She did not want him to get in trouble. (R155) She was angry when C.B. told her mother that Mr. Young had touched her peepee because he didn't. (R155-56) She did not see a bottle there. (R161) The neighbor who lived downstairs did not hear any sounds of distress or similar noises from Mr. Young's apartment that day. (R411-12) She would have heard these noises had there been any, because the walls were thin. (R410-11)

Mr. Young testified that he asked Mrs. Beams once to send R.B. over, because he had not wanted to hurt R.B. and wanted to explain what he had done the previous night. (R438-39) She said she would think about it. (R439) About 9 or 10 a.m., the two girls came but not R.B.. (R439) They said their mother sent them. (R440) They played the organ and watched television. (R440) At noon, Mrs. Beams called for them and they went home. (R440)

Half an hour later they returned saying their mother had said they could come. (R440-41) He lay on the couch to watch television while the children played with his bed. (R441) The children were quiet, and he went into the bedroom to ask what they were doing. (R441) B.B. said they were only playing. (R441) They continued to be quiet, so he went into the bedroom again and saw them naked and standing on the window sill. (R441-42) B.B. was rubbing on a metal piece on the sliding window. (R454) He yelled at them and told

them to put their clothes on. (R442) B.B. spread her legs and asked if he wanted some. (R442) He said he did not believe in that. (R442)

When they had their clothes on, he asked if B.B. wanted him to tell her mother what she had done. (R442) She said spitefully that she did not care. (R442) He decided not to call her mother, but he told her that what she had done was not proper. (R442) He went into the bedroom before lying on the couch while they sat in the lounge chair and watched television. (R443) He did not hear them talking; and, when he looked around the couch, B.B. was gone again. (R443) He asked what she was doing, and she said she was in the kitchen getting a drink. (R443) He went to the kitchen and found that she had spread his baby powder everywhere, including the refrigerator and the food. (R443) He used baby powder for his leg braces. (R443)

He was angry and asked her why she had done this. (R443-44)
He said he would call her mother. (R444) She said she did not
care. (R444) A few minutes later Mrs. Beach called. (R444) The
children did not hear what he said to her. (R444) Mrs. Beach said
it was 5:30 p.m. and time to go home. (R444) The children gave him
a normal hug, said they would see him tomorrow, and went home.
(R444)

According to Mrs. Beach, they came home about 3:30 or 4:00 p.m. (R209) C.B. said her peepee hurt. (R210) C.B. had had chicken pox in her vaginal area that week, and Mrs. Beach thought C.B. wanted medicine for it. (R210) Mrs. Beach pulled down her

panties and saw that her hymen had a hole the size of a dime and her vaginal lips were swollen and bright red. (R210) Her vaginal area had not looked that way earlier that week when they had put medicine on it. (R211) Mrs. Beauty saw no blood. (R219)

Mrs. Bearing was upset but remained calm and asked if Mr. Young had been playing a new game with her. (R211) When C.B. said he had, Mrs. Bearing asked C.B. to demonstrate it. (R211) She spread her legs and put her fingers in and out of the vaginal area. (R212) She said that Mr. Young had put a squeeze bottle of medicine inside her and tried to put medicine on it. (R212)

When Mrs. Beach came to the living room where B.B. was watching television, B.B. started screaming that Mr. Young had told C.B. not to tell and that he could get in very bad trouble. (R212) They would not be able to play with him anymore. (R213) B.B. was crying and hysterical. (R212) She held her pants when Mrs. Berman tried to take them off. (R213) Finally, Mrs. Berman pulled them off and saw that B.B.'s vaginal area looked like C.B.'s. (R213)

When Mr. Beach came home at 5 p.m., Mrs. Beach asked C.B. to show her father the new game she had learned. (R213, 232) She took off her panties and put her fingers in and out of her vaginal area. (R213, 232) B.B., however, cried and screamed that she was not supposed to tell and would not be allowed to play with Mr. Young. (R214, 234) She tried to keep them from pulling down her panties. (R214)

When Mr. Beat saw the redness around their vaginas, he called the police and the Child Protection Team (CPT). (R214, 233-

35) They told him to act normally and get a gallon of milk for Mr. Young as he had requested. (R215, 236) They did not need to take the children to the hospital. (R235-36) While Mr. Bearing got the milk, Pat Gleason of HRS called Mrs. Bearing (R215, 255) Ms. Gleason told her not to do anything, and she would come the next day. (R215, 255)

The next morning Ms. Gleason talked to the children individually. (R215-16, 256-57) C.B. told her calmly that Mr. Young had put his finger inside her peepee and it had hurt. (R258) B.B. told her that Mr. Young had pulled her pants down, put medicine in her peepee, and put his finger inside. (R258)

Ms. Gleason and Christine Earl of the CPT interviewed the children on tape on August 3 with the police also present. (R216, 259, 278) According to the videotape, C.B. said that Mr. Young took off her panties and hurt her peepee with his finger. (R338-39) He took off his pants. (R355) Mr. Young put his peepee on her peepee. (R342, 344) He kissed her on the mouth and stomach. (R353, 356) She first said he kissed her peepee and then said he did not. (R356-57) He kissed her with his tongue. (R357) She touched his peepee. (R356) She first said that Mr. Young did not put medicine on her peepee and later said that he did. (R340, 345) They both lay on the bed. (R350) He also touched B.B. and R.B. on their peepees. (R346)

B.B. said on tape that Mr. Young told her not to tell anyone what had happened because he would get in trouble. (R361-62, 389-90) He gave her many bad touches. (R374) She was playing and ran

to his bedroom. (R375-76) He caught her, she fell down, and he touched her with his glass (crutch). (R376) She was on the bed, and R.B. was there too. (R376) The following leading questions and confusing answers occurred on the tape.

Q: Did you ever see Jim touch [C.B.'s] peepee?

A: Yes.

Q: What did he do to [C.B.'s] peepee?

A: He just -- I don't know.

Q: Well, try to think. You know why, [B.B.], because this is very important that we know so we can make sure that Jim doesn't touch anybody else's peepee like that.

A: Well, he didn't touch anybody else's peepee. That's why I said I don't know, because he hasn't touched anybody's peepee.

Q: Did he touch your peepee?

A: No.

Q: But you told me that he did touch your peepee, and [C.B.] told me that he touched her peepee.

A: Yes, well, I was in the bedroom and I fall down and then he got me and he touched my peepee.

Q: When you fell down, were you on the bed?

A: Yes.

Q: Where was Jim?

A: He was in the other room watching TV.

Q: If he was in the living room watching TV, and you were on his bed in the bedroom, how did he touch your peepee?

A: He walked in there and he got me -- (inaudible).

- Q: Did he take off your panties or did he leave your panties on?
- A: He leave my panties on.
- Q: Well how did he touch your peepee with your panties on?
- A: He just stuck his finger in there.
- Q: He just stuck his finger in there? Did that hurt when he stuck his finger in there?
- A: (Witness nodding head in the affirmative)
- Q: What did you say?
- A: I didn't say nothing.
- Q: Oh, and what did Jim say?
- A: He said -- (inaudible).
- Q: How many times did Jim put his finger in your peepee?
- A: Five times.
- Q: Five times? Was it more than one time, many times?
- A: It was just one time.

(R377-78)

B.B. said later on the tape that he touched her peepee many times. (R380) She did not know whether he put his finger inside her or what he did. (R381) He did not do anything. (R381) He hurt her by touching the middle of her peepee, not her skin or shorts. (R381) She twice refused to demonstrate on dolls what he had done. (R379, 382) He did not take off her pants, and she did not know how he touched her peepee. (R382) He did not touch her peepee with his finger and instead touched it with a hard gold glass (crutch) that he wore on his arm to walk down the stairs. (R382-84)

B.B. said on the tape that he pulled down her pants and used a squeeze bottle to put medicine on her peepee and C.B.'s peepee while they were on the floor. (R387-89) He put the bottle inside her peepee, and it hurt. (R389) She did not see his peepee, and he did not kiss her. (R390)

On August 7 the police searched Mr. Young's apartment and found a collage of children's pictures on a bedroom wall. (R283, 292) Mr. Young made the collage to teach Bible study to children and show how the pictures related to Bible stories. (R430) Two enema squeeze bottles, one of which had water in it, were under the bathroom sink. (R281, 283, 292) As a victim of polio, Mr. Young sometimes had to give himself an enema in order to go to the bathroom. (R445) On August 10 the police asked B.B. and C.B. on tape to pick out one of the bottles from a bottle lineup. (R283-84) C.B. picked the bottle from Mr. Young's apartment and demonstrated what he did with it. (R288, 394) B.B. picked a different bottle, however, and said that he touched her on her panties and put it into her butt with her pants off. (R396)

A CPT doctor examined C.B. and B.B. on August 13 and found no laceration or scarring in the genital area or disruption of the hymen. (R216, 266-68) The hymenal opening can look larger to a layperson if the lips are swollen even if it is not larger as in this case. (R273) The doctor could not support or refute the allegations of abuse. (R267-68) Redness and swelling by itself would not last longer than a week. (R273) Chicken pox, heat rash, masturbation, and rubbing with an object can cause this redness. (R274-76)

Afterward, B.B. still wanted to see Mr. Young but was told she could not. (R216) The children saw Mr. Young at the pool once while their father was with them. (R237) B.B. was upset, but the other children were not. (R237) The first or second week of August, John Donaldson walked with Mr. Young to get the mail. (R418) They saw C.B. and B.B. on a balcony. The girls were happy to see Mr. Young and called to him to play with them. (R419) Mr. Young ignored them and kept walking. (R419)

At trial the CPT nurse testified as an expert about the child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome. (R398) In the engagement phase, the perpetrator develops a relationship with the child. (R398) In the interaction phase, the sexual abuse occurs. (R399) In the secrecy phase, the perpetrator makes implied threats and asks the child not to tell. (R399) If the child eventually tells what happened, often after a crisis or accidental disclosure, then chaos occurs because many people ask questions and the child's parents might be upset and angry. (R399) The child may recant her story because she likes the perpetrator. (R400) The pressure of trial increases the likelihood of recantation. (R401)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The trial judge failed to consult with defense counsel when the jury asked to see the videotapes. Many out-of-state cases say that the jury should not be allowed to have unrestricted viewing of videotapes.
- II. The in-court testimony did not establish penetration or an attempt to penetrate and instead said only that Mr. Young

touched the girls on their clothes in the vaginal areas. The outof-court testimony was inadmissible because it consisted of prior
inconsistent statements which were not substantive evidence. It
was also not corroborated by competent evidence.

- III. The eight hearsay statements were not reliable because they were contradictory. They were unduly prejudicial because most of them contributed nothing to the State's case except to bolster it by repetition. They were also videotapes, which are especially prejudicial. The court failed to make specific findings of fact to show reliability.
- IV. The judge failed to find that the three-year-old key state witness was competent, and he allowed her testimony even though he seemed to believe that she was not competent. Her statements provided ample basis for the conclusion that she was not competent. The judge has a fundamental duty to determine competence; the parties cannot waive the competence of witnesses.
- V. The judge should have severed the counts involving R.B. from the other counts. The motion to sever was timely because it was made before trial. The error was not harmless, because testimony regarding the severed counts was not admissible as Williams Rule evidence. Although the jurors acquitted Mr. Young of the counts involving R.B., their knowledge of the evidence relevant to these counts could have influenced their decision on the other counts.

VI. The collage of children in various poses had no relevance to anything and served only to show that the defendant had an unhealthy interest in children.

VII. The right to a public trial was violated when the judge excluded the defendant's cousin from the trial without making adequate findings. The statute should be interpreted to include cousins within its provisions.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY RESPONDING TO A JURY REQUEST WITHOUT CONSULTING WITH DEFENSE COUNSEL AND BY ALLOWING THE VIDEOTAPES TO GO TO THE JURY OVER DEFENSE OBJECTION.

The court instructed the jurors that, if they wished to see a videotape, they should tell the bailiff and he would play it for them. (R506) When the court asked if the parties had any objections to the instructions, the defense objected that the jury should not get the videotapes, which would be like recalling a witness and having a witness testify. (R507) The court responded that the jurors were entitled to review all physical evidence. (R507)

At a hearing on a motion for new trial, citing <u>Chambers v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 504 So. 2d 476 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), defense counsel stated that he was present during jury deliberations when the bailiff called the judge on the phone and spoke to him about something. (R515-16) Suddenly, the videotape machine and the tapes were taken into the jury room. (R516) Under the circumstances, counsel had no

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