IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_______ Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES DALE YOUNG,

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

FLA. SCT. # 82,461 2DCA CASE NO. 91-03788

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent/Appellee.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/APPELLEE ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 327832 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT/APPELLEE

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

Furthermore, the children's out-of-court statements were admissible as exceptions to the hearsay rule pursuant to other sections of the evidence code, independent of the provisions of §90.803(23). For example, C.B.'s first report of the incident was spontaneously made and not the result of any adult-initiated interrogation. In addition being admissible to under §90.803(23), the children's initial statements to their parents were admissible pursuant to §90.803(1) [spontaneous statement]; §90.803(2) [excited utterance]; or §90.803(3) [then existing mental, emotional, or physical condition]. See also, MacDonald v. State, 578 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) [Victim of sexual assault ran to a neighbor and blurted out a description of the event that was consistent with her trial testimony. At trial, the neighbor testified to the victim's description. The statement of the neighbor was held admissible under the sexual battery "first complaint" rule and also as a spontaneous

² The defense challenges C.B.'s competence as a witness at trial in Issue IV of the instant case. The fact that a child allegedly may not be competent to testify at trial does not mean that the child is unreliable. The requirement that the court find sufficient safeguards of reliability obviate the necessity that the child understand the duty to tell the truth. <u>Perez v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1988).

statement.]; A.M. v. State, 574 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991). [Victims' mother testified that her children told her they had been raped several times by the defendant. Under the circumstances, the statements were not hearsay because they were not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. The statements were admitted to prove the time at which they were made and thus were not heresay.]

A child victim's heresay statement which qualifies for admission under §90.803(23) may be admissible in evidence when the child is able to testify at trial, even though the child's statement is a prior consistent statement. <u>Pardo v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 1992). Under <u>Pardo</u>, C.B.'s prior consistent statements of sexual abuse were admissible at trial.

B.B.'s prior inconsistent statements likewise were admissible at trial in light of the independent corroborative evidence. B.B.'s videotaped statement was not cumulative to her trial testimony. B.B.'s individual videotaped statements, which were taken within a week of the incident and a year prior to trial, were inconsistent with her recanted trial testimony. In Glendening, the three-year-old victim testified at trial via videotape and she did not implicate the defendant, her father, in any misconduct. However, her prior inconsistent statements regarding the sexual abuse were admissible in light of the independent medical evidence and the defendant's inculpatory statements to cellmates. The independent corroboration based on medical testimony of the injuries went to reliability of the

- 33 -

statements. Accord, Chambers v. State, 504 So. 2d 476 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). [Testimony of family members and investigating detective sufficiently corroborated the children's prior inconsistent statements.]

Moreover, during opening statements, the defense asked the jurors to pay particular attention to the timing of the sexual abuse complaints, *i.e.*, it was only after defendant Young reported Z.B.'s misbehavior at the summer camp that the allegations against Young surfaced. (R. 96-97). Where the defense suggests that the allegations of abuse are the product of improper influence and suggestion, there is no error in admitting the victim's prior out-of-court statements. For example, in Barnes v. State, 477 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), the trial court did not err in admitting testimony from a neighbor to whom a witness confided about the sexual abuse. In Barnes, the court specifically noted that where a child's credibility is in issue and the defense is the improper influence by others, the child's prior consistent statements are properly admitted. See also Begley v. State, 483 So. 2d 70 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). [When the defendant claims that the child abuse victim had a motive to lie based on the improper influence by the state and mother, the trial court properly admitted under §90.801(2)(b) the details of the child's statement to the mother that revealed the abuse.]

Even if §90.803(23) were the sole avenue for admission of the child's out-of-court statements, the circumstances surrounding the statements provided sufficient indicia of reliability supporting their admissibility. The trial court discussed the factors which he considered and the trial court announced on the record his findings (supporting reliability) as the case progressed. A sufficient hearing is held pursuant to §90.803(23) when the trial court considers a proffer and announces its observations concerning the reliability of the specific findings are preferable, this hearsay. Although procedure was found permissible in Stone v. State, 547 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). In the instant case, as in Stone, the defense did not object to the sufficiency of the trial court's findings and this issue did not involve fundamental error.³ Similarly, in Jones v. State, 610 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the trial court, pursuant to §90.803(23) made the following findings of reliability and unavailability, stating:

the content and circumstances . . . provide sufficient safeguards of reliability to be admissible.

I further find that J.P is unavailable and that if he were to testify a substantial likelihood of severe emotional mental harm would result. Therefore, I am going to allow this detective to testify as to any hearsay statements made by J.P.

³ With regard to the need and sufficiency of an objection to the purported lack of specific findings, Appellant correctly noted that this issue is pending review before this Honorable Court in <u>Feller v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), (FSC Case No. 81,771) and <u>Hopkins v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (FSC Case No. 80,514).

On appeal, the district court declined to reach the merits of Jones' claim that the trial court's findings should have been made with greater particularity. This issue was not preserved for appellate review because no contemporaneous objection was made to the sufficiency of the trial court's findings. Id., citing, inter alia. Paukner v. State, 556 So. 2d 1231, 1232 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Freeman v. State, 545 So. 2d 915, 916-17 (Fla. 2d DCA), review denied, 548 So. 2d 662 (Fla. 1989). Additionally, the failure to comply with the procedural requirements of §90.803(23) admissible under another is harmless when statements are provision of the evidence code. See, Sampson v. State, 541 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Any alleged error in failing to make specific findings fact on the record as to its ruling concerning the state's request to present heresay under §90.803(23) is not reversed where the evidence erroneously presented is merely cumulative to other overwhelming evidence. Cook v. State, 531 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

The defendant relies extensively on <u>Jaggers v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). In <u>Jaggers</u>, testimony of Jaggers' daughter and stepdaughter were introduced at trial by way of their videotaped depositions, pursuant to <u>\$92.53</u>, Florida Statutes (1985). The daughter and stepdaughter specifically testified that Jaggers did not penetrate their vaginas with his finger. The stepdaughter's videotaped testimony established that Jaggers touched the "privates" of all the victims with his

- 36 -

did not go inside." This testimony contradicted her previous statements to several persons including a police sergeant, a pediatric specialist, police officer, and to her grandmother. In Jaggers, the Court concluded:

> . . . the State's attempts to remedy the negative trial testimony by the daughter stepdaughter and on the issue of penetration with the unsworn out of court victim's statements that were themselves often contradictory and not made at a time closely approximate to the alleged occurrence, were notsufficiently reliable warrant to admission into evidence. The time of the out of court statements, relative to the time of the incident charged and the circumstances of the statements, are critical to determination of See Perez v. State, reliability. 536 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1988). That testimony, 90-803(23)offered under Section Florida Statutes (1985) was relied on as substantive evidence. However, in this case, it amounts to nothing more than evidence of prior inconsistent statements of a testifying witness which are not admissible except when offered to contradict and impeach the direct testimony offered at trial. We conclude that evidence of such prior unsworn, inconsistent statements, not subject to cross-examination at the time they're made, cannot constitute the sole evidence upon which to sustain Appellant's conviction of the sexual battery by penetration of his daughter State v. Moore, 485 and stepdaughter. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1986). To hold So. otherwise would put us in conflict with Moore. Jaggers, 536 So. 2d at 324-325.

Specially concurring in part and dissenting in part, Judge Parker pointed out that while <u>Moore</u> prohibits the State from proving its case solely on the basis of prior inconsistent statements, <u>Moore</u> does not apply where there is competent corroborative evidence of the crimes aside from the statements. See, <u>Parker</u>, J. specially concurring in part and dissenting in part, <u>Jaggers v.</u> <u>State</u>, 536 So. 2d at 331, <u>citing Chambers v. State</u>, 504 So. 2d 476, 478 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

The admissibility of a videotape made by the police of the child-victim's statement is evaluated under §90.803(23), Florida State v. Asfour, 555 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). Statutes. In Distefano v. State, 526 So. 2d 110 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), the appellate court found no abuse of discretion in admitting (1) the child's out-of-court statements which were made to her mother immediately after the sexual incident and (2) the child's videotaped interview with a CPT counselor which was recorded two days after the incident. The CPT counselor testified that the interview was conducted privately while the mother remained in the waiting room and the child was not asked any questions prior to the videotaped interview. In the instant case, as in Distefano, the CPT interview was conducted a short time after the incident, outside the presence of the mother, and the children were not questioned by the CPT counselor prior to the interview. Lastly, error, if any, in admitting any of the out-of-court of child victims was statements the harmless under the circumstances of this case. See e.g., Ward v. State, 565 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); Salter v. State, 500 So. 2d 184 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) [Any error in admitting testimony is harmless when substantially the

same evidence was presented to the jury through the testimony of other witnesses. Here, the child testified concerning the lewd and lascivious assault, and her mother and friend testified that immediately after the incident, the child reported the assault to them. Accordingly, testimony of the CPT counselor was merely cumulative and did not give significant additional weight to the child's testimony. <u>Id.</u>, *citing* <u>Woodfin v. State</u>, 553 So. 2d 1355 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), *review denied*, 563 So. 2d 635 (Fla. 1990); <u>Cook v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 1369, 1371 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), *cert. denied*, 489 U.S. 1084, 109 S. Ct. 1542, 103 L.Ed.2d 846 (1989)].

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IN ALLOWING THE 3-YEAR OLD CHILD VICTIM TO TESTIFY.

The defendant argues that the trial court erred in allowing convictions based on the testimony of 3-year old C.B., without finding C.B. to be competent. As the record shows, following the proffer of C.B.'s testimony, the defense did not object that C.B. was not competent to testify. (R. 120). Specifically, the prosecutor inquired,

[PROSECUTOR]: Are you objecting she's not competent to testify?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: No, Your Honor. (R. 120).

Sometime later during the trial, the defense objected to the admission of the videotapes and stated that they were not sure if the court made a ruling on C.B.'s competence to testify. (R. 324). However, since the defense raised no objection to the child being declared competent when her testimony was offered (R. 120), this claim is waived. This issue has not been preserved for appeal and it does not constitute fundamental error. <u>Woodfin v. State</u>, 553 So. 2d 1355 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

Assuming, arguendo, this claim had been preserved for appeal, the defendant's argument still must fail. When a child's competency is at issue, the trial court should consider (1) whether the child is capable of observing and recollecting facts, (2) whether the child is capable of narrating those facts to the court or to the jury, and (3) whether the child has a moral sense of obligation to tell the truth. <u>Lloyd v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 396, 400 (Fla. 1988), citing <u>Williams v. State</u>, 400 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 5th DCA), affirmed, 406 So. 2d 1115 (Fla. 1981). See also <u>Kentucky v. Stincer</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 107 S.Ct. 2658, 2665, 96 L.Ed.2d 631 (1987). The trial court is accorded a wide discretion in determining a child's competency as a witness, and absent an abuse of discretion, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed. <u>Lloyd</u>, 524 So. 2d 396 at 400; <u>Rutledge v. State</u>, 374 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1979), *cert. denied*, 446 U.S. 913, 100 S.Ct. 1844, 64 L.Ed.2d 267 (1980).

The issues raised involve considerations of now credibility -- an issue in any trial. The jury received instructions concerning the methods whereby they could deem testimony either worthy or unworthy of belief, including the consideration of inconsistent statements and the ability to know or recall and relate what happened. Stone v. State, 547 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) ["We do not believe it is incumbent upon parents to teach their toddlers the sexual vocabulary of Gray'sAnatomy in order to protect them from the lifelong psychological damage of sexual battery."] Whether the child was developmentally or intellectually inferior did not ipso facto render her incompetent and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the three-year-old child-victim competent to testify. See also, §§90.601, 90.603 and 90.605(2), Florida Statutes.

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT' UNTIMELY MOTION FOR SEVERANCE

On October 22, 1990, the State filed an information in this case. An amended information was filed on May 10, 1991 (R. 539; 543-544). On June 17, 1991, the day before trial was commenced, the defense filed a motion for severance (R. 559); and the trial court specifically found that the motion for severance was untimely. (R. 6; 8). The defendant now argues that the charges involving the Berman's son, Z.B., should have been severed from the charges involving the two female children, B.B. and C.B.

Granting or denying a requested severance is within the trial court's discretion, and the test on review is whether the trial court abused its discretion. <u>State v. Vasques</u>, 419 So. 2d 1088, 1090 (Fla. 1982); <u>Murphy v. State</u>, 495 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). A motion to sever should be made before trial unless the grounds for it are not known before trial. Rule 3.153(a) Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure; <u>Crum v. State</u>, 398 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1981). The defendant's untimely filing of this motion at the 11th hour should be deemed to constitute a waiver of the defendant's right to rely on this claim. Assuming, *arguendo*, this Court finds it appropriate to address the merits of this issue, the defendant's argument nevertheless must fail.

The trial court did not err in denying the defendant's untimely motion to sever the charges involving the minor

children, who were siblings living in the same household. First. connected acts aqainst the victims were or the offenses transactions; second, that the acts and relationship between the defendant and the victims were similar; third, there was no unfair prejudice to the defendant in trying all of the counts of the single Information together; fourth, the same evidence would have been presented at the time of trial; and fifth, since the defendant was acquitted of the charges involving Z.B., error, if any, is harmless.

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